ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

CHRISTINA REECE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000656

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK,
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred in refusing to suppress the results of appellant's blood draw where the police ordered her blood drawn after a car accident, without a warrant, since the belief of a police officer that alcohol may be in the suspect's blood stream does not create a *per se* exception to the Fourth Amendment's search warrant requirement when obtaining a non-consensual blood draw, in violation of Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013)?

2.

Whether appellant's conviction for felony driving under the influence must be vacated where the trial court was without subject matter jurisdiction to try appellant because her case was on appeal, the appellate court had exclusive jurisdiction, and the remittitur had not been returned to the trial court?

3.

Whether the court erred by refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal where there was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant was under the influence or appreciably impaired at the time of the automobile accident within the meaning of the felony DUI statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the June 19, 2012 term of the Pickens County Grand Jury for the three counts of felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury. R. 461 – R. 466. Appellant's case was called for a suppression hearing before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin on January 28, 2013. Richard Warder represented appellant. Lisa Bentley was the assistant solicitor. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the judge rejected the defense argument that appellant's blood was illegally drawn because the blood was drawn at the order of law enforcement, and because the state did not attempt to obtain a search warrant. R. 55, l. 17 – 58, l. 23. An order stating that the state did not need a warrant, and that it had probable cause to seize appellant's blood without a warrant, was issued. R. 327 – R. 328.

On March 19, 2013, appellant's case was called for trial. Defense counsel informed the court that he had previously filed a notice of intent to appeal from the denial of his motion to suppress appellant's blood. R. 61; R. 68, l. 16 – 70, l. 21. The judge ruled that the appeal was interlocutory, and that the trial would go forward despite the fact counsel had filed a notice of intent to appeal. Defense counsel objected to the trial going forward while the case was on appeal. The judge acknowledged she understood the objection. R. 69, l. 14 – 70, l. 21.

At the conclusion of the bench trial the judge found appellant guilty of three counts of felony DUI. R. 318, ll. 13-17. The judge sentenced appellant to ten years imprisonment concurrent on each count. R. 324, ll. 9-14. Appellant filed a notice of intent to appeal.

Undersigned appellant counsel filed a motion to vacate appellant's convictions because the trial court did not have jurisdiction to try appellant because her case was on appeal. A trial in the lower court was improper where jurisdiction was vested in the Supreme Court. R. 334 – R. 372.

This Court, through the Chief Judge, denied the motion. Subsequently, on September 12, 2014 petitioner filed a motion for rehearing. R. 419 – R. 457. On September 26, 2014 the Clerk of this Court returned the petition for rehearing and the return to rehearing stating that “the appellate court will not entertain petitions for rehearing on a motion or petition unless the action of the court on the motion or petition has the effect of dismissing or finally deciding a party’s appeal.’ No action will be taken on your petition for rehearing.” R. 460.

This brief of appellant follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred in refusing to suppress the results of appellant's blood draw where the police ordered her blood drawn after a car accident, without a warrant, since the belief of a police officer that alcohol may be in the suspect's blood stream does not create a *per se* exception to the Fourth Amendment's search warrant requirement allowing a non-consensual blood draw, in violation of *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013).

Relevant Facts

A pre-trial suppression hearing was held on January 28, 2013 regarding law enforcement ordering appellant's blood drawn at the hospital because they believed the car accident was the result of a felony DUI. Defense counsel noted that *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013), on this issue of drawing DUI suspect's blood without her consent, and without a warrant, had been argued in the United States Supreme Court, but not decided, at the time of the suppression hearing. *McNeely* was argued on January 9, 2013.

Pickens County EMS worker, Eric Patterson, testified he responded to a two-car motor vehicle head-on collision on April 30, 2011. R, 8, ll. 3-15. Patterson transported "Ms. Medygyesy [the driver of the other vehicle] . . . and another patient and my partner and the rescue driver" to the hospital. Patterson did not remember who the other patient was at that time. R. 11, ll. 5-8.

The other EMS worker, Brad West, remembered Appellant Christina Reece was the driver of the truck, and that she had to be "extricated" from it. R. 14, ll. 1-21. Appellant was injured, and West opined that she would not have been able to give a breath sample as a potential DUI suspect. R. 15, ll. 17-22. Appellant was taken to Greenville Memorial Hospital. R. 15, l. 17 – 16, l. 15.

Highway Patrolman James Greer testified he contacted his supervisor, J.S. Black, who “told me that there was a possible felony DUI situation. He asked me to get my camera and start taking some pictures.” R. 19, l. 21 – 20, l. 13.

Greer said there was “a good bit of clutter inside the truck as well. Also, there were several beer cans that were lying around in the bed of the truck, behind the seat of the truck.” R. 20, ll. 9-24.

Greer found two arrest warrants inside appellant’s truck in a “lighter colored bag.” One of the warrants was for possession of methamphetamines, and the other one was for manufacturing methamphetamines. R. 22, ll. 2-4. Greer did not recall how old the arrest warrants were that he found in the truck. R. 23; ll. 13-16. Greer said he also found a pipe which he said was “commonly used for smoking methamphetamines.” R. 22, ll. 2-11.

Highway Patrolman Joey Baldwin testified he responded to the scene of the car accident on April 30, 2011. Baldwin said he determined that appellant’s vehicle had crossed the centerline. R. 29, ll. 7-17. Baldwin was directed to go to Greenville Memorial Hospital. R. 31, l. 14 – 32, l. 6.

Trooper Greer said he determined that appellant had been injured and the occupants of the other vehicle had sustained what he determined to be “great bodily injury.” R. 34, l. 5 – 35, l. 16. The solicitor examined Trooper Greer concerning his order to draw appellant’s blood at the hospital:

Q. But based on - - based on your communications with Corporal Mayfield, what did you do at the hospital?

A. Based on my communications, Corporal Mayfield had indicated to me that he had spoken to a supervisor at Highway Patrol. And it was our course of action at that time that we would *get a legal blood draw for the charge of Felony DUI.*

Q. *And did you proceed to draw Ms. Reece’s blood?*

A. *I did not draw it. I proceeded to the trauma bay with the blood draw kits to have it drawn.*

Q. *And did you stay there and observe it - - pardon me. Did you direct hospital personnel to conduct that blood draw?*

A. *I did and I have paperwork on that as well.*

R. 37, l. 23 – 38, l. 11. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination Greer testified that he would have made “the felony DUI charge regardless of the information that Corporal Mayfield had told me.” Greer said it was his decision to have the blood drawn from appellant. R. 39, ll. 4-22. Greer confirmed that he never spoke with appellant, and he offered “she was, like I said earlier, unconscious, sedated, something to that effect, in the trauma bay.” R. 40, ll. 10-15.

Highway Patrol Officer Mayfield added: “I felt like we may have a possible situation where we had a felony DUI here if the injuries were serious enough.” R. 48, ll. 12-20. The following occurred on direct examination of Trooper Mayfield:

You were the on-scene supervisor. Was it your final determination to do the blood draw or would that have been up to Trooper Baldwin who was at the hospital?

A. Well, I conveyed to him what I would have had, that it would have been at his discretion. Obviously, I conferred with my supervisor, which is in our chain of command. It's a command staff. I relayed to him what I have and then we confer about what we need to do. At that point, I would get with Trooper Baldwin and we would confer. And I talked to him. It was relayed to him what we had and the situation, it looked like a felony DUI. Gave him the facts. *Then he made a decision to draw the blood with our conferring together.*

R. 51, l. 21 – 52, l. 8. (emphasis added).

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing, the assistant solicitor argued that the state had met its burden of proving there was probable cause to draw appellant's blood without her consent.

R. 54, l. 12 – 55, l. 10. The judge confirmed to defense counsel Warder that he was limited to arguing probable cause as defined in the statute. Defense counsel argued that there was “no question in my mind, that if it went before a neutral and detached magistrate, we’d have a different result.” Counsel argued: “I’ll be honest. What bothers me about this case when we’re rushing through it is that the issue is before the United States Supreme Court right now. It was argued on the 13th of January [Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013)]. They were going to address this whole issue, I think, of what relevance Schmerber [Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966)] would have in today’s world and whether or not you can ever take a blood sample.” R. 55, l. 13 – 57, l. 25.

Defense counsel continued: “We don’t know what happened. People were hurt bad. What we’re going to do is we’re going to take her blood and send it down and if it comes back, we’ll charge her. That is improper.” R. 55, l. 13 – 57, l. 25. The judge stated that she was ruling “under the law as it is today, I find that there was probable cause that a reasonable officer would have in that circumstance believed that blood draw was necessary. I believe [the police] had probable cause to draw blood in the circumstance.” R. 58, l. 1-18.

Appellant’s case was called to trial on March 19, 2013 before Judge Verdin. Richard Warder again represented appellant. Lisa Bentley and D. Graham Buckner were the solicitors. Appellant waived her right to a jury trial. Defense counsel at the beginning of the trial noted that the Judge Verdin at the prior hearing had found probable cause to take appellant’s blood at the hospital. Defense counsel told the judge that the defense had filed a “notice of intent to appeal from that order.” R. 68, ll. 2-25.

Defense counsel said that the judge had informed him that the trial was going forward “despite the fact that I’ve appealed.” The judge confirmed that was correct. Defense counsel then

objected to the trial going forward given that the appeal was pending in the appellate court. R. 69, ll. 1-12.

As will be seen in Issue 2 below, the judge stated that after reviewing the case law she found appellant's appeal was from "an interlocutory order that was not subject to immediate appeal." Defense counsel then repeated his contention that the statute, South Carolina Code §56-5-2926 was unconstitutional in that it allowed a police officer the discretion to find probable cause to draw appellant's blood rather than a neutral detached magistrate. The judge noted that she had denied that motion at the earlier suppression hearing. R. 69, l. 1 – 71, l. 12.

Discussion

Defense counsel correctly argued that Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013) was pending at the time of the suppression hearing and trial, and would control this case. McNeely was argued on January 9, 2013. The suppression hearing was held on January 28, 2013, and the bench trial was held March 19-20, 2013. McNeely was decided on April 17, 2013.

In Missouri v. McNeely, the Supreme Court held that the natural metabolization of alcohol in the blood stream **did not present a *per se* exigency** that justifies an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement for nonconsensual blood testing in all drunk-driving cases. The Supreme Court held that "consistent with general Fourth Amendment principles, that exigency in this context must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances." Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1556 (2013).

In McNeely, the Court further held that in drunk-driving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they get a warrant. Missouri v. McNeely, 133, S.Ct. at 1561.

Appellant is entitled to the benefit of Missouri v. McNeely because her case is pending on direct appeal before this Court. It is apparent that the nonconsensual blood draw was seizure of appellant's blood in this case mandated its suppression under McNeely. The statute that allowed the nonconsensual draw of appellant's blood without a warrant, and without an exigency, was unreasonable and violated the Fourth Amendment as the Court held in McNeely.¹

Further, the accident here occurred at approximately 5:00 in the afternoon, and appellant was taken to Greenville Memorial Hospital. Greenville is a major metropolitan area, and there was no reason to conclude that a search warrant could not have been readily obtained. Appellant should be granted a new trial.

¹ During the bench trial SLED chemist Quintus Young testified that appellant's blood draw tested positive for methamphetamine, and "also screened positive for THC metabolite." Young said the level of meth was above what would be used "therapeutically" for ADD, ADHD or "appetite suppressant dosage." Young could not tell when appellant last used marijuana, or a "meth product." R. 212, l. 14 – 227, l. 6. Appellant testified the accident occurred because she was "talking to the girl behind me in the back of my truck trying to hear her, turning my attention from the road." Appellant said the meth she used two or three days before the accident did not have anything to do with her being distracted. R. 296, l. 15 – 298, l. 19.

The appellant's conviction for felony driving under the influence must be vacated where the trial court was without subject matter jurisdiction to try appellant because her case was on appeal, the appellate court had exclusive jurisdiction, and the remittitur had not been returned to the trial court.

Relevant Facts

The relevant facts of this case as they pertain to this issue follow:

Appellant Christina Reece was indicted on June 19, 2012 for three counts of felony DUI resulting in great bodily injury. R. 461 – R. 466. A suppression hearing was held before Judge Letitia H. Verdin on January 28, 2013. Richard Warder represented appellant, and Lisa Bentley was the assistant solicitor. Counsel Warder argued that the results of the blood evidence ordered taken from appellant had to be suppressed. Counsel noted that the probable cause determination had been made by Trooper James Greer, and not a neutral and detached Magistrate. Counsel reminded the judge that he had urged her to defer ruling on this issue because the United States Supreme Court had heard arguments on the issue on January 13, 2013.² See Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). R. 40 ll. 5-9; R. 114-119, ll. 1-16. R. 327 – R. 328.

The judge ruled “under the law as it is today [January 28, 2013], I find there was probable cause that a reasonable officer would have in that circumstance believe [a] blood draw was necessary.” R. 40, ll. 5-9; R. 114-119, ll. 1-16. R. 327 – R. 328. The judge issued a written order dated February 26, 2013 denying the Motion to Suppress (R. 327 – R. 328).

² The oral argument before the Supreme Court was actually held on January 9, 2013.

Defense counsel then prepared a Notice of Intent to Appeal from the judge's pre-trial refusal to suppress the results of the blood draw which it served on March 12, 2013. Counsel filed that notice of intent to appeal to the Supreme Court on March 13, 2013. R. 329 – R. 330.

On March 19, 2013 the Supreme Court issued an order dismissing the appeal without prejudice as interlocutory since appellant had not been sentenced. R. 331.

Appellant's bench trial started *the same day* the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal, March 19, 2013. Defense counsel Warder *objected* to the trial going forward since he had filed a notice of intent to appeal the judge's refusal to suppress appellant's blood sample. The judge noted that while appellant argued the case was stayed on appeal, the appeal was interlocutory. "In fact, this case is not concluded until there's either – there's some – either a finding of guilty or not guilty in this case. But your record is protected that you certainly did make that motion." R. 68, l. 16 – 70, l. 1). R. p. 331.

Defense counsel then moved for the judge to find the felony DUI statute unconstitutional inasmuch as it allows a police officer and not a neutral and detached Magistrate to make a determination of probable cause to order a defendant's blood drawn from her. The judge denied the motion. As stated, appellant then waived her right to a jury trial, and she was convicted of three counts of felony DUI resulting in great bodily harm on March 20, 2013. She was sentenced to ten years imprisonment. R. 61 – 71; R. 74; R. 318; R. 324, ll. 12-13. R. 327 – R. 328.

However, it was not **until April 4, 2013 that the remittitur in this case was sent from the Supreme Court to Pickens County returning jurisdiction to the trial court.** R. 332 – R. 333.

Undersigned appellate counsel discovered the trial court's lack of jurisdiction to conduct appellant's March 19-20, 2013 trial while working on this case to file the brief and designation of

matter, and he filed a motion to remand the case for a new trial, and to dismiss the appeal. R. 373 – R. 418.

Appellate Counsel argued the trial court was without jurisdiction because the remittitur had not been issued by the appellate court until April 4, 2013, therefore the March 19-20, 2013 trial in this case was a nullity, and appellant's convictions were void. He further noted that although defense counsel timely objected to the trial going forward, the trial court overruled the objection. Finally, he noted that the lack of subject matter jurisdiction could be raised at any time as undersigned counsel had again done upon this discovery as noted above. See State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 422, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011).

The Chief Judge denied the motion to vacate appellant's convictions, and to remand her case for a new trial. Appellant filed a petition for rehearing on September 12, 2014 requesting that this Court reconsider its order, grant rehearing, vacate appellant's convictions, remand her case to Pickens County Court of General Sessions for a new trial, and to dismiss this appeal without prejudice. Petition for Rehearing at 4. R. 422.

On September 26, 2014 the Clerk returned appellant's petition for rehearing and the return to the petition for rehearing stating "the appellate court will not entertain petitions for rehearings on a motion or petition unless the action of the court on the motion or petition has the effect of dismissing or finally deciding a party's appeal." This court stated that "no action will be taken on your petition for rehearing." R. 460.

Discussion

Once a notice of intent to appeal is served, the Supreme Court has exclusive jurisdiction over the appeal, except the lower court retains jurisdiction to entertain petitions for supercedeous under Rule 225. The appellate court retains jurisdiction of the case until the remittitur is issued and

the proceeding returned to the circuit court. When the remittitur is returned to the circuit court, that court re-acquires subject matter jurisdiction to enforce the judgment and take any action consistent with the appellate court's ruling. Bunkum v. Manor Properties, 321 S.C. 95, 99, 467 S.E.2d 758, 760 (1996), *citing* Muller v. Myrtle Beach Golf and Yacht Club, 313 S.C. 412, 438 S.E.2d 248 (1993).

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