STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

RECEIVED

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge OCT 07 2015

Appellate Case No. 2013-000656

---

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

CHRISTINA REECE,

APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville County Courthouse

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

Trooper Joey Baldwin of the South Carolina Highway Patrol also responded to the collision scene. (R. p. 25). He reported the time of the collision as 5:35 pm. (R. p. 26, lines 1-2). By the time he arrived around 6:09 pm, all of the occupants of the vehicles had been transported to the hospital. (R. p. 27). Trooper Baldwin noted that it was a clear, sunny day and there were no impediments in the roadway. (R. p. 28, lines 6-11). He determined that the truck Appellant had been driving was headed toward Greenville and the vehicle she hit was headed in the opposite direction toward Easley. (R. p. 28, lines 15-23). The final resting place of Appellant's vehicle was left of center in the opposite lane. (R. p. 29). Trooper Baldwin noted that the sun would have been behind Appellant at the time of the collision considering her direction of travel. (R. p. 29, lines 21-25). Additionally, there were no indications that Appellant had dropped off the right

or left side of the roadway prior to the collision. (R. p. 30, lines 15-17). There did not appear to be any witnesses to the collision. (R. p. 31).

After making his observations and taking a few pictures, Trooper Baldwin was directed to go to Greenville Memorial Hospital. (R. p. 30-31). He briefly met with EMS worker Brad West in the trauma bay and West informed him that Appellant had been the driver of the pickup truck involved in the collision. (R. p. 32). Appellant was unconscious or sedated when she was in the trauma bay and Baldwin was not able to have any conversation with her. (R. p. 40). Trooper Baldwin then began gathering information regarding the injuries of the occupants of the vehicles. (R. p. 32-33). He learned that there were a total of four occupants in Appellant's vehicle at the time of the collision: Appellant, another adult female, and two children. (R. p. 33). The children were too young to articulate any information regarding the accident. (R. p. 33, lines 20-22). Trooper Baldwin then went to touch base with the occupants of the vehicle Appellant hit. (R. p. 33-34). Those occupants were all injured fairly severely. (See R. p. 34-35). They reported that Appellant "just drove left of center and hit them." (R. p. 45, lines 6-8). As Trooper Baldwin gathered this information, he relayed it to Corporal Mayfield over the phone. (R. p. 35-36). Corporal Mayfield told Trooper Baldwin about the incriminating items found in Appellant's vehicle, including the arrest warrants for methamphetamine offenses, the methamphetamine pipe, and the beer cans. (R. p. 36; p. 40). At that point, considering the fact that there appeared to be no observable cause for the accident, the officers suspected that Appellant's intoxication may have caused it. (R. p. 37-38). Accordingly, they determined they had probable cause for a blood draw

pursuant to the felony DUI statute. (R. p. 38). Trooper Baldwin proceeded to the trauma bay with a blood kit and hospital personnel drew Appellant's blood.<sup>3</sup> (R. p. 38-39).

Corporal Brian Mayfield of the South Carolina Highway Patrol testified that he also responded to the collision scene on April 30, 2011. (R. p. 46-47). When he arrived he found two vehicles in the roadway, a pickup truck and small car, and the vehicles had been involved in a head-on collision. (R. p. 47). It appeared that the pickup truck went left of center and hit the other vehicle. (R. p. 47). All the occupants of the vehicles had been transported to the hospital by the time Mayfield arrived. (R. p. 47). Appellant's truck was not in a drivable condition and it was going to have to be towed away. (R. p. 48). Consequently, the vehicle was inventoried. (R. p. 48). Several troopers participated in the inventory. (R. p. 48). The previously-mentioned beer cans, methamphetamine pipe, and arrest warrants were found. (R. p. 49). Corporal Mayfield relayed all the information gleaned at the scene to Trooper Baldwin, who was at the hospital. (R. p. 49-50). Based on his twenty-two years of experience in highway patrol, and based on the evidence found at the scene, including the lack of any apparent cause of the crash, Corporal Mayfield suspected that Appellant's intoxication may have caused the collision. (R. p. 50-51). In light of the serious injuries that the occupants of both vehicles sustained, Corporal Mayfield and Trooper Baldwin decided that "it looked like a felony DUI" and that they had probable cause to have Appellant's blood drawn. (R. p. 51-52).

At the conclusion of Mayfield's testimony, the solicitor informed the judge that her presentation "supporting a determination for probable cause for the blood draw" was complete. (R. p. 54, lines 5-8). The solicitor then argued that the State had met its

---

<sup>3</sup> The chain of custody form for the blood draw, which was later admitted at trial as State's Exhibit # 14, reflected that the blood was drawn at 8:10 pm. (See R. p. 326).

burden under the statute to show probable cause for the blood draw in light of the officers' knowledge of what happened at the scene of the collision, the fact that there was no explainable cause for the crash, the items found in Appellant's vehicle including the beer cans, methamphetamine pipe, and recent arrest warrants for methamphetamine offenses, and considering the bodily injury resulting from the collision. (R. p. 54-55). In response, defense counsel argued that officers did not have probable cause under the statute because the arrest warrants were a few days old and that there was no reason to believe the beer cans found in Appellant's truck were cold. (R. p. 55, line 17 – p. 56, line 2). He also argued there was no reason to believe the methamphetamine pipe had been recently used because "it was wrapped up in paper in her purse." (R. p. 56, line 14-17). He further argued that the blood draw was ordered "on the basis of nothing to indicate [Appellant] is under the influence." (R. p. 56, lines 3-10). He asserted it was "mere speculation" and that if the issue went before a neutral and detached magistrate, "we'd have a different result." (R. p. 56-57). Defense counsel further stated:

I'll be honest. What bothers me about this case when we were rushing it through is that the issue is before the United States Supreme Court right now. It was argued orally on the 13<sup>th</sup> of January. Uh, they were going to address this whole issue, I think, of what relevancy Schmerber would have in today's world and whether or not you can ever take a blood sample. (R. p. 57, lines 13-20).

He then reiterated his probable cause argument:

But I think in this case, it's just speculation. We don't know what happened. People were hurt bad. What we're going to do is we're going to take her blood and send it down and if it comes back, we'll charge her. That is improper. (R. p. 57, lines 21-25).

The trial judge then ruled as follows:

I appreciate your argument on behalf of your client and you've argued vigorously on her behalf. I do not know if in my ruling today does not

reflect what it might have been in prior law. But under the law as it is today, I find that there was probable cause that a reasonable officer would have in that circumstance believe a blood draw was necessary. I base that not on arrest warrants, although that might have given an officer some more confirmation about his suspicions. But a meth pipe in personal belongings of the defendant as well as – who was the driver, as well as beer cans in the truck, I believe do give probable cause to draw blood in the circumstance. (R. p. 58, lines 1-15).

On February 26, 2013, the trial judge issued an order confirming the oral ruling. (See R. p. 327). This order addressed **only** whether or not law enforcement had probable cause for the blood draw pursuant to the statute and made no mention of the Fourth Amendment or the case of Missouri v. McNeely, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552, (2013). Defense counsel did not file a motion for reconsideration asking the judge to rule on additional issues.

Defense counsel filed an improper interlocutory appeal from the February 26, 2013 order which was dismissed by the South Carolina Supreme Court on March 19, 2013. (See R. p. 351-54). Appellant's case was called for trial that same day in the circuit court, although it appears the parties were not yet aware of the Supreme Court's dismissal order. (See R. p. 68-69). At the beginning of trial, defense counsel stated he objected to going forward with the trial despite the fact that he filed an appeal. (R. p. 69). The judge ruled that the trial could go forward because the appeal was an improper interlocutory appeal. (R. p. 69, lines 14-25). Defense counsel then noted that he wished to be able to place his objections to the blood which was "seized" from Appellant "whenever that's offered." (R. p. 70, lines 2-7). The judge stated that she would "make sure we take the time to put any objection you have to anything and preserve that issue." (R. p. 70, lines 8-11). Defense counsel also made a motion that the court find S.C. Code § 56-5-2946 unconstitutional because "that statute attempts to shift the burden of finding

probable cause to the discretion of the officer as it quotes to a neutral detached magistrate.” (R. p. 70, lines 12-17). He added that, “I think because of that, uh, vesting in the officer under the statute of that that that ultimately renders that statute unconstitutional.” (R. p. 70, lines 17-20). The trial judge denied the motion. (R. p. 70, line 22 – p. 71, line 1).

Much later in trial, forensic toxicologist Toni Broome of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”) testified that Appellant’s blood came back positive “for THC and methamphetamine.” (R. p. 202, lines 15-17). There was no objection by defense counsel. Subsequently, another SLED forensic toxicologist, Quintus Young, testified that Appellant’s sample “screened positive” for methamphetamine and THC metabolite. (R. p. 217, lines 17-20). He further stated that both substances were “confirmed” in this case. (R. p. 217, line 20). Defense counsel did not object to this testimony. In addition, defense counsel’s only objection to the admission of Young’s report was that it would “just be cumulative to his testimony.” (See R. p. 217, lines 3-8). Defense counsel did not mention the blood draw issue at the directed verdict stage or at the end of trial. (R. p. 283-84; p. 307-308; p. 318-24).

#### Issue Preservation

On appeal, Appellant does not argue, as he did in the pretrial hearing, that officers lacked probable cause under the felony DUI blood draw statute, S.C. Code § 56-5-2946. (See R. p. 55-59). He also does not argue, as he did just before trial commenced, that the statute itself is unconstitutional because it gives discretion to officers to determine probable cause. (See R. p. 70). Instead, on appeal, Appellant makes the new and distinct argument that her Fourth Amendment rights were violated because “the police ordered

her blood drawn after a car accident, without a warrant, since the belief of a police officer that alcohol may be present in the suspect's blood stream does not create a *per se* exception to the Fourth Amendment's search warrant requirement allowing a non-consensual blood draw, in violation of Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013).” (See Brief of Appellant, p. 4).

Appellant's McNeely argument, raised for the first time on appeal, is not preserved for appellate review. First, no Fourth Amendment issue was properly raised to the trial judge below. The pretrial hearing was requested by the State to allow the trial judge to make a finding regarding probable cause for the blood draw pursuant to the felony DUI statute. The pretrial hearing was focused on that issue. Appellant's mere mention at the end of the pretrial hearing that a similar case was pending in the United States Supreme Court – without making any specific Fourth Amendment arguments – was wholly insufficient to preserve the issue. See, e.g., Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. Moreover, an objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector.” (citations omitted)); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground.”); State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (an appellant is limited to the arguments he makes at trial); State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (finding an issue not properly preserved for appeal where one ground was raised below and another ground

was raised on appeal); State v. Baker, 390 S.C. 56, 65, 700 S.E.2d 440, 444 (Ct. App. 2010) (even constitutional claims must be raised at trial to be preserved for review).

Second, the trial judge never ruled on any Fourth Amendment issues in her oral pronouncement or in her written order, and Appellant did not subsequently request that the judge make a specific Fourth Amendment ruling in addition to her ruling regarding probable cause under the statute. See State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) (to be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to **and passed upon** by the trial judge; if an issue is raised but not ruled upon, it is not preserved (emphasis added)); State v. Hudgins, 319 S.C. 233, 236, 460 S.E.2d 388, 390 (1995) (although appellant objected, the trial judge did not rule on the objection and appellant did not object further or request curative instructions; therefore, this issue was not preserved for review), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Collins, 329 S.C. 23, 495 S.E.2d 202 (1998); Harkins v. Greenville County, 340 S.C. 606, 620, 533 S.E.2d 886, 893 (2000) (“In order to be preserved for review, the lower court must rule upon the issue.”); see also Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 730 S.E.2d 282 (2012) (pointing out that “error preservation has been a critical part of appellate practice in this State for a long time, serving to ensure . . . that we do not reach issues which were not ruled upon by the trial court”); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction rather than being a reviewing court. Since the trial judge was not requested to rule upon the foregoing question, and made no ruling thereabout, it is not properly before this Court for consideration.” (citations omitted)).

Third and finally, Appellant failed to make a contemporaneous objection to the blood test results when they were offered into evidence at trial.<sup>4</sup> See, e.g., State v. Griffin, 339 S.C. 74, 77, 528 S.E.2d 668, 669 (2000) (“[A]n in limine ruling is not final and does not preserve the issue for appeal.”); State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 33, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999) (“A pretrial ruling on the admissibility of evidence is preliminary and is subject to change based on developments at trial.”); State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 498 S.E.2d 642, 644 n. 3 (1998) (unless a contemporaneous objection is made at the time the evidence is offered at trial and a final ruling made, the issue is not preserved for review).

For all of these reasons, the McNeely issue raised on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (“If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.”); see also I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.”). Accordingly, this Court should dismiss this issue on procedural grounds.

### Discussion

#### **Standard of Review/Applicable Law**

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court’s findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers,

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellant failed to make a contemporaneous objection at trial despite the fact that defense counsel previously stated his intention to object at the appropriate time and despite the fact that the trial judge assured him he would be given the opportunity to object and preserve his issue. (R. p. 70, lines 2-11).

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